
UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q
☒      QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF

1934.

For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2016

OR

o         TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934

For the transition period from                to                

Commission file number 001-33133

METABOLIX, INC.
Delaware  04-3158289

(State or other jurisdiction of
incorporation or organization)  

(I.R.S. Employer
Identification No.)

19 Presidential Way
Woburn, MA  01801

(Address of principal executive offices)  (Zip Code)
(617) 583-1700

(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

(Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report.)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing
requirements for the past 90 days.  Yes ☒  No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate web site, if any, every Interactive Data File
required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter
period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes ☒  No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See
the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer o  Accelerated filer o

Non-accelerated filer o  Smaller reporting company x
(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)  

 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).  Yes o  No ☒

The number of shares outstanding of the registrant’s common stock as of November 16, 2016 was 28,342,625.



Metabolix, Inc.
Form 10-Q

For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2016

Table of Contents

  Page
Part I. Financial Information 3
   

Item   
1. Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) 3
 Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 3
 Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 4
 Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 5
 Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 6
 Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements 7
2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 20
3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 28
4. Controls and Procedures 28
   

Part II. Other Information 28
   

Item   
1. Legal Proceedings 28
1A. Risk Factors 28
2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds 33
3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities 34
4. Mine Safety Disclosures 34
5. Other Information 34
6. Exhibits 34
   

SIGNATURES 35

2



PART I.  FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1.  CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

METABOLIX, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

UNAUDITED

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

  
September 30, 

2016  
December 31, 

2015  
Assets      
Current Assets:      

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 9,782  $ 12,269  
Accounts receivable  198  238  
Due from related party  1  146  
Unbilled receivables  347  150  
Inventory  —  51  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  252  1,668  
Short-term restricted cash  —  494  
Current assets of disposal group classified as held for sale  —  328  

Total current assets  10,580  15,344  
Restricted cash  432  125  
Property and equipment, net  1,796  105  
Other assets  717  714  
Other assets of disposal group classified as held for sale  —  800  

Total assets  $ 13,525  $ 17,088  

      
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity      
Current Liabilities:      

Accounts payable  $ 229  $ 120  
Accrued expenses  2,749  3,513  
Deferred revenue  —  277  

Total current liabilities  2,978  3,910  
Other long-term liabilities  1,969  150  

Total liabilities  4,947  4,060  
      
Commitments and contingencies (Note 9)    
      
Stockholders’ Equity:      

Preferred stock ($0.01 par value per share); 5,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued or
outstanding  —  —  

Common stock ($0.01 par value per share); 250,000,000 shares authorized at September 30,
2016 and December 31, 2015; 28,119,260 and 27,331,435 shares issued and outstanding at
September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively  281  273  

Additional paid-in capital  339,803  338,580  
Accumulated other comprehensive loss  (81)  (72)  
Accumulated deficit  (331,425)  (325,753)  

Total stockholders’ equity  8,578  13,028  
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 13,525  $ 17,088  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim condensed consolidated financial statements
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METABOLIX, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

UNAUDITED
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

  
Three Months Ended   September

30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,
  2016  2015  2016  2015
Revenue:         

Grant revenue  $ 473  $ 327  $ 818  $ 1,249
Total revenue  473 327  818  1,249

         

Expenses:         
Research and development  1,547  1,664  4,522  5,034
Selling, general, and administrative  1,530  1,769  4,951  5,582

Total expenses  3,077 3,433  9,473  10,616
Loss from continuing operations  (2,604) (3,106)  (8,655)  (9,367)

         

Other income:         
Interest income, net  2  1  6  3
Other income, net  (10)  —  (10)  41

Total other income, net  (8) 1  (4)  44
Net loss from continuing operations before income tax benefit  (2,612)  (3,105)  (8,659)  (9,323)
Income tax benefit  1,042  —  1,042  —
Net loss from continuing operations  (1,570) (3,105)  (7,617)  (9,323)

         

Discontinued operations:         
Income (loss) from discontinued operations  6,853  (2,743)  3,204  (8,441)
Income tax expense  (1,259)  —  (1,259)  —
Total income (loss) from discontinued operations  5,594 (2,743)  1,945  (8,441)

         

Net income (loss)  $ 4,024 $ (5,848)  $ (5,672)  $ (17,764)

         

Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share:         
Net loss from continuing operations  $ (0.06)  $ (0.12)  $ (0.28)  $ (0.38)
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations  0.20  (0.10)  0.07  (0.35)
Net income (loss) per share  $ 0.14  $ (0.22)  $ (0.21)  $ (0.73)

         

Number of shares used in per share calculations:         
Basic & Diluted  27,869,133  26,979,598  27,652,090  24,234,043

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim condensed consolidated financial statements
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METABOLIX, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

UNAUDITED
(in thousands)

  
Three Months Ended 

 September 30,  
Nine Months Ended September

30,
  2016  2015  2016  2015
Net income (loss):  $ 4,024  $ (5,848)  $ (5,672)  $ (17,764)

Other comprehensive loss         
Change in foreign currency translation adjustment  (3)  (3)  (9)  (7)
Total other comprehensive loss  (3) (3) (9)  (7)

Comprehensive income (loss)  $ 4,021 $ (5,851) $ (5,681)  $ (17,771)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim condensed consolidated financial statements
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METABOLIX, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

UNAUDITED
(in thousands)

 
Nine Months Ended 

 September 30,
  2016  2015
Cash flows from operating activities     
Net loss  $ (5,672)  $ (17,764)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash used in operating activities:     
Depreciation  458  167
Charge for 401(k) company common stock match  259  291
Stock-based compensation  1,155  1,483
Inventory impairment  199  202
Non-cash income tax expense  217  —
Gain on sale of discontinued operation and property and equipment  (9,833)  (33)
Non-cash restructuring expense paid through stock and equipment  196  —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:     

Accounts receivables  40  (231)
Due from related party  145  (35)
Unbilled receivables  (197)  132
Inventory  180  9
Prepaid expenses and other assets  1,413  (687)
Accounts payable  122  48
Accrued expenses  (1,047)  18
Deferred rent and other long-term liabilities  655  —
Deferred revenue  (277)  7
Taxes paid related to net share settlement upon vesting of stock awards  (274)  —

Net cash used in operating activities  (12,261)  (16,393)
  

Cash flows from investing activities     
Purchase of property and equipment  (721)  (498)
Proceeds from sale of discontinued operation and property and equipment  10,317  40
Change in restricted cash  187  —

Net cash provided by (used) for investing activities  9,783  (458)
  

Cash flows from financing activities     
Proceeds from private placement offering  —  14,703

Net cash provided by financing activities  —  14,703
  

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  (9)  (4)
  

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (2,487)  (2,152)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  12,269  20,046

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 9,782  $ 17,894

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash information:   
Purchase of property and equipment included in accounts payable and accrued expenses  $ —  $ 128
Restricted stock units issued to settle incentive compensation obligation  $ —  $ 305
Lease incentive paid by lessor  $ 1,332  $ —
Transfer of equipment to settle contractual liability  $ 111  $ —
Issuance of common stock to settle contractual liability  $ 85  $ —
Private placement offering costs included in accounts payable and accrued expenses  $ —  $ 75

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim condensed consolidated financial statements
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METABOLIX, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

UNAUDITED

(All dollar amounts, except share and per share amounts, are stated in thousands)

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements are unaudited and have been prepared by Metabolix, Inc. (the “Company”) in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) and pursuant to the rules and regulations of the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in the Company’s annual consolidated
financial statements have been condensed or omitted. The year-end condensed consolidated balance sheet data was derived from audited financial statements,
but does not include all disclosures required by GAAP. The consolidated financial statements, in the opinion of management, reflect all adjustments
(consisting only of normal recurring adjustments) necessary for a fair statement of the financial position and results of operations for the interim periods
ended September 30, 2016 and 2015.

The results of operations for the interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations to be expected for any future period or the
entire fiscal year. These interim consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2015, which are contained in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 29, 2016.

The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a basis which assumes that the Company will continue as a
going concern and which contemplates the realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business.  However,
with the exception of the three month period ended September 30, 2016, when the Company reported net income of $4,024 as a result of selling certain of its
biopolymer assets, and 2012, when it recognized $38,885 of deferred revenue from a terminated joint venture, the Company has recorded losses since its
inception.

As of September 30, 2016, the Company held unrestricted cash and cash equivalents of $9,782.

The Company has an agreement with Aspire Capital Fund, LLC ("Aspire"), under which Aspire has committed to purchase up to $20,000 of
Metabolix’s common stock over a 30 month period that began on November 9, 2015. The purchase agreement contains limitations on the number of shares
that the Company may sell to Aspire. Additionally, the Company and Aspire may not effect any sales of shares of the Company's common stock under the
purchase agreement during the continuance of an event of default or on any trading day that the closing sale price of its common stock is less than $0.50 per
share. At September 30, 2016, the full $20,000 remained available under the purchase agreement with Aspire, although market conditions may limit the
extent to which the Company can draw on this facility.

The Company’s present capital resources may not be sufficient to fund its planned operations for a twelve month period and, therefore, raise substantial
doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. 

The Company has substantially completed a strategic restructuring under which the Company has wound down its biopolymer operations and Yield10
Bioscience ("Yield10") has become its core business, with a focus on developing disruptive technologies for step-change improvements in crop yield to
enhance global food security.

    
The Company completed the sale of its biopolymer intellectual property and certain equipment and inventory to an affiliate of CJ CheilJedang

Corporation ("CJ") for a total purchase price of $10,000 on September 16, 2016. In connection with its announced restructuring, the Company initiated
actions during July 2016 to significantly reduce its workforce and cease pilot biopolymer production in an effort to significantly reduce its ongoing cash burn
rate. The Company expects to reach a target level of approximately 20 employees during the fourth quarter as activities related to the wind down of its
biopolymer operations and transfer of biopolymer assets to CJ are completed.

The Company continues to face significant challenges and uncertainties. The Company’s future revenues, expenses and cash usage will depend on the
successful completion of the strategic restructuring and the execution of its strategic plans related to Yield10. Adequate financing to support Yield10
operations may not be available. Available capital resources may be consumed more rapidly than currently expected due to (a) higher restructuring costs than
anticipated; (b) lower than expected revenues from grants, licenses, and service fees related to the Yield10 technologies; (c) changes the Company may make
to the business that affect ongoing operating expenses; (d) changes the Company may make to its business strategy; (e) changes in the
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Company's research and development spending plans; and (f) other items affecting the Company's forecasted level of expenditures and use of cash resources.

If the Company issues equity or debt securities to raise additional funds, (i) the Company may incur fees associated with such issuance, (ii) its existing
stockholders may experience dilution from the issuance of new equity securities, (iii) the Company may incur ongoing interest expense and be required to
grant a security interest in Company assets in connection with any debt issuance, and (iv) the new equity or debt securities may have rights, preferences and
privileges senior to those of the Company’s existing stockholders. In addition, utilization of the Company’s net operating loss and research and development
credit carryforwards may be subject to significant annual limitations under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 due to ownership changes
resulting from equity financing transactions. If the Company raises additional funds through collaboration, licensing or other similar arrangements, it may be
necessary to relinquish valuable rights to its potential products or proprietary technologies, or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to the Company.

On June 30, 2016, the Company received a Notice of Delisting from The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC as a result of the Company's bid price for the
previous 30 consecutive business closing below the minimum $1.00 per share requirement for continued listing on The Nasdaq Capital Market under Nasdaq
Listing Rule 5550(a)(2). In accordance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(A), the Company has been provided with an initial period of 180 calendar days,
or until December 27, 2016, to regain compliance. To regain compliance, the closing bid price of the Company's common stock must be $1.00 per share or
more for a minimum of 10 consecutive business days at any time before December 27, 2016. If the Company does not regain compliance by December 27,
2016, it may be eligible for an additional 180 calendar day compliance period. To qualify, the Company would be required to meet the continued listing
requirement for market value of publicly held shares and all other initial listing standards for The Nasdaq Capital Market, with the exception of the bid price
requirement, and would need to provide written notice of its intention to cure the deficiency during the second compliance period, by effecting a reverse stock
split, if necessary, subject to Nasdaq's agreement that such an action by the Company would cure the deficiency.

The condensed consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that may result from the outcome of these uncertainties.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

There have been no material changes in accounting policies since the Company’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, as described in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements included in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year then ended.

Principles of Consolidation

The Company's consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions were
eliminated, including transactions with its Canadian subsidiary, Metabolix Oilseeds, Inc. During the third quarter of 2016, the Company undertook a strategic
shift and restructured its business to focus on the Yield10 Bioscience business. On September 16, 2016, the Company completed the sale of its biopolymer
intellectual property and certain equipment and inventory to an affiliate of CJ CheilJedang Corporation. The condensed consolidated financial statements for
each of the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, have been presented to reflect the biopolymer operations as a discontinued operation
in accordance with ASU No. 2014-08, Reporting Discontinued Operations and Disclosures of Disposals of Components of an Entity. See Note 15.

Restructuring

The Company's policy is to record restructuring charges using estimates of cash expenditures for contract termination costs and employee post-
termination benefits. The Company also records a non-cash accelerated depreciation charge for any related equipment and leasehold improvements that are
determined to have no further use in the ongoing business.

Reclassification

Certain amounts in prior year financial statements have been reclassified to conform with current year presentation.
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Reverse Stock Split

On May 26, 2015, the Company effected a 1-for-6 reverse stock split of its common stock. Unless otherwise indicated, all share amounts, per share data,
share prices, exercise prices, and conversion rates set forth in these notes and the accompanying financial statements have, where applicable, been adjusted
retroactively to reflect this reverse stock split.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP") requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Foreign Currency Translation

Foreign denominated assets and liabilities of the Company's wholly-owned foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at the prevailing
exchange rates in effect on the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at average exchange rates prevailing during the period. Any resulting
translation gains or losses are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the consolidated balance sheet. When the Company dissolves,
sells or substantially sells all of the assets of a consolidated foreign subsidiary, the cumulative translation gain or loss of that subsidiary is released from
comprehensive income (loss) and included within its consolidated statement of operations during the fiscal period when the dissolution or sale occurs.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk primarily consist of cash and cash equivalents. The Company
has historically invested its cash equivalents in highly rated money market funds, corporate debt, federal agency notes and U.S. treasury notes. Investments,
when purchased, are acquired in accordance with the Company’s investment policy which establishes a concentration limit per issuer. At September 30, 2016,
the Company’s cash equivalents are invested solely in money market funds.

The Company provides credit to customers in the normal course of business. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers’
financial condition and limits the amount of credit extended when deemed necessary. At September 30, 2016, the Company’s accounts and unbilled
receivables include $530 or 97%from U.S. government grants.

3. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

From time to time, new accounting pronouncements are issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") or other standard setting
bodies that we adopt as of the specified effective date.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments. The
new standard clarifies certain aspects of the statement of cash flows, including the classification of debt prepayment or debt extinguishment costs, settlement
of zero-coupon debt instruments or other debt instruments with coupon interest rates that are insignificant in relation to the effective interest rate of the
borrowing, contingent consideration payments made after a business combination, proceeds from the settlement of insurance claims, proceeds from the
settlement of corporate-owned life insurance policies, distributions received from equity method investees and beneficial interests in securitization
transactions. The new standard also clarifies that an entity should determine each separately identifiable source or use within the cash receipts and cash
payments on the basis of the nature of the underlying cash flows. In situations in which cash receipts and payments have aspects of more than one class of
cash flows and cannot be separated by source or use, the appropriate classification should depend on the activity that is likely to be the predominant source or
use of cash flows for the item. The new standard will be effective for us on January 1, 2018. The Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of this
new guidance.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments. The new standard changes the impairment model for most financial assets and certain other instruments. Under the new standard, entities
holding financial assets and net investment in leases that are not accounted for at fair value through net income are to be presented at the net amount expected
to be collected. An allowance for credit losses will be a valuation account that will be deducted from the amortized cost basis of the financial asset to present
the net carrying value at the amount expected to be collected on the financial asset. The new standard will be effective for us on
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January 1, 2020. The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-06, Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Contingent Put and Call Options in Debt Instruments. The
new standard simplifies the embedded derivative analysis for debt instruments containing contingent call or put options by removing the requirement to assess
whether a contingent event is related to interest rates or credit risks. The new standard will be effective for us on January 1, 2017. The adoption of this
standard is not expected to have an impact on our financial position or results of operations. In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-07, Investments
- Equity Method and Joint Ventures (Topic 323): Simplifying the Transition to the Equity Method of Accounting. The new standard eliminates the requirement
that when an investment qualifies for use of the equity method as a result of an increase in the level of ownership interest or degree of influence, an
adjustment must be made to the investment, results of operations and retained earnings retroactively on a step-by-step basis as if the equity method had been
in effect during all previous periods that the investment had been held. The new standard will be effective for us on January 1, 2017. The adoption of this
standard is not expected to have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-09, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Employee Share-Based
Payment Accounting. The new standard involves several aspects of the accounting for share-based payment transactions, including the income tax
consequences, classification of awards as either equity or liabilities and classification on the statement of cash flows. The new standard will be effective for us
on January 1, 2017. The Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of this new guidance.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). The new standard requires that all lessees recognize the assets and liabilities
that arise from leases on the balance sheet and disclose qualitative and quantitative information about its leasing arrangements. The new standard will be
effective for us on January 1, 2019. The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on our net financial position, but will impact the
amount of our assets and liabilities. The Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of this new guidance.

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-01, Financial Instruments - Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities. The new standard amends certain aspects of accounting and disclosure requirements of financial instruments, including the
requirement that equity investments with readily determinable fair values be measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in our results of
operations. The new standard does not apply to investments accounted for under the equity method of accounting or those that result in consolidation of the
investee. Equity investments that do not have readily determinable fair values may be measured at fair value or at cost minus impairment adjusted for changes
in observable prices. A financial liability that is measured at fair value in accordance with the fair value option is required to be presented separately in other
comprehensive income for the portion of the total change in the fair value resulting from change in the instrument-specific credit risk. In addition, a valuation
allowance should be evaluated on deferred tax assets related to available-for-sale debt securities in combination with other deferred tax assets. The new
standard will be effective for us on January 1, 2018. The Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of this new guidance.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-15, Presentation of Financial Statements-Going Concern (Subtopic 205-40). The new guidance addresses
management’s responsibility to evaluate whether there is substantial doubt about an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the date
that the financial statements are issued and to provide related footnote disclosures. Management’s evaluation should be based on relevant conditions and
events that are known and reasonably knowable at the date that the financial statements are issued. This guidance should reduce diversity in the timing and
content of footnote disclosures. The amendments in this update apply to all entities and are effective for the annual period ending after December 15, 2016,
and for annual periods and interim periods thereafter. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently reviewing the potential impact of adopting the
new guidance on its current disclosures.

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606),
which supersedes all existing revenue recognition requirements, including most industry specific guidance. The new standard requires a company to
recognize revenue when it transfers goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration that the company expects to receive for those
goods or services. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Deferral of the Effective Date,
which delayed the effective date of the new standard from January 1, 2017 to January 1, 2018. The FASB also agreed to allow entities to choose to adopt the
standard as of the original effective date. In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-08, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Principal
versus Agent Considerations, which clarifies the implementation guidance on principal versus agent considerations. In April 2016, the FASB issued ASU No.
2016-10, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Identifying Performance Obligations and Licensing, which clarifies certain aspects of
identifying performance obligations and licensing implementation guidance. In May 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-12, Revenue
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from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Narrow-Scope Improvements and Practical Expedients related to disclosures of remaining performance
obligations, as well as other amendments to guidance on collectibility, non-cash consideration and the presentation of sales and other similar taxes collected
from customers. These standards have the same effective date and transition date of January 1, 2018. The Company is currently evaluating the method of
adoption and the potential impact that these standards may have on its financial position and results of operations.

4. BASIC AND DILUTED NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE

Basic net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted
net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted-average number of dilutive common shares outstanding during the period.
Diluted shares outstanding is calculated by adding to the weighted shares outstanding any potential (unissued) shares of common stock from outstanding
stock options and warrants based on the treasury stock method, as well as weighted shares outstanding of any potential (unissued) shares of common stock
from restricted stock units. In periods when a net loss is reported, all common stock equivalents are excluded from the calculation because they would have an
anti-dilutive effect, meaning the loss per share would be reduced. Therefore, in periods when a loss is reported, there is no difference in basic and dilutive loss
per share. Common stock equivalents include stock options, restricted stock awards and warrants.

The Company follows the two-class method when computing net loss per share, when it has issued shares that meet the definition of participating
securities. The two-class method determines net loss per share for each class of common and participating securities according to dividends declared or
accumulated and participating rights in undistributed earnings. The two-class method requires income available to common stockholders for the period to be
allocated between common and participating securities based on their respective rights to receive dividends, as if all income for the period has been
distributed or losses to be allocated if they are contractually required to fund losses. There were no amounts allocated to participating securities for the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, as the Company was in a loss position and had no shares that met the definition of participating
securities outstanding at September 30, 2016 and 2015.

On May 26, 2015, the Company effected a 1-for-6 reverse stock split of its common stock. The calculation of basic and diluted net loss per share, as
presented in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of operations, have been determined based on retroactive adjustment of weighted average
shares outstanding for all periods presented.

The number of shares of potentially dilutive common stock presented on a weighted average basis, related to options, restricted stock units and warrants
(prior to consideration of the treasury stock method) that were excluded from the calculation of dilutive shares since the inclusion of such shares would be
anti-dilutive for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, are shown below:

  Three Months Ended  September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,

 

 2016  2015  2016  2015

Options  926,245  928,090  931,664  956,181
Restricted stock units  588,390  1,198,743  827,398  830,530
Warrants  3,933,000  3,933,000  3,933,000  1,541,505

Total  5,447,635 6,059,833 5,692,062  3,328,216

5. INVENTORY

The components of biopolymer inventories of the Company at December 31, 2015 are as follows:

  
December 31, 

2015

Raw materials  $ —
Finished goods  51

Total inventory  $ 51
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Finished goods at December 31, 2015, of $51, represents inventory that the Company had sold and shipped to customers for which the Company had
not yet recognized revenue or cost of goods sold under its product revenue recognition policy. At September 30, 2016, the Company no longer carried
inventory on its books. In connection with its strategic decision to discontinue and wind down its biopolymer operations, the Company wrote-down its
remaining $199 of inventory during the quarter ended September 30, 2016. The impairment charges are recorded as a charge against income from
discontinued operations for the quarter.

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Company has certain financial assets recorded at fair value which have been classified as Level 1 within the fair value hierarchy as described in the
accounting standards for fair value measurements. Fair value is the price that would be received from the sale of an asset or the price paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between independent market participants at the measurement date. Fair values determined by Level 1 inputs utilize
observable data such as quoted prices in active markets for identical instruments. Fair values determined by Level 2 inputs utilize data points other than
quoted prices in active markets that are observable either directly or indirectly. Fair values determined by Level 3 inputs utilize unobservable data points in
which there is little or no market data, which require the reporting entity to develop its own assumptions. The fair value hierarchy level is determined by the
lowest level of significant input. At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the Company did not own any Level 2 or Level 3 financial assets or
liabilities and there were no transfers of financial assets or liabilities between category levels.

The Company's assets are measured at fair value on a recurring basis. The balance of Level 1 assets as of September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015
were $1,596 and $11,203, respectively, and for both periods the assets were invested in money market funds classified in cash and cash equivalents.

7. ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accrued expenses consisted of the following at:

  
September 30, 

2016  
December 31, 

2015

Employee compensation and benefits  $ 497  $ 2,114
Commercial manufacturing  858  465
Professional services  503  431
Other  891  503

Total accrued expenses  $ 2,749  $ 3,513

8. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

At September 30, 2016, there was approximately $2,073 of pre-tax stock-based compensation expense, net of estimated forfeitures, related to unvested
awards not yet recognized.

Employee, Non-employee and Director Stock Options

The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense related to stock option awards of $254 and $1,155 for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2016, respectively. Of these amounts, $16 and $212 are included in discontinued operations within the Company's condensed consolidated
statements of operations included within this quarterly report. The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense related to stock option awards of
$588 and $1,483 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively. Of these amounts, $187 and $478 are included in discontinued
operations. The compensation expense related to unvested stock options is expected to be recognized over a remaining weighted average period of 1.31 years.
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A summary of option activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 is as follows:

  
Number of

Shares  
Weighted Average

Exercise Price

Outstanding at December 31, 2015  904,133  $ 26.58
Granted  55,000  1.34
Exercised  —  —
Forfeited  (28,670)  6.35
Expired  (15,943)  39.67

Outstanding at September 30, 2016  914,520  $ 25.47

     

Options vested and expected to vest at September 30, 2016  903,129  $ 25.71
Options exercisable at September 30, 2016  683,550  $ 31.95
       
Restricted Stock Units

On January 2, 2014, the Company awarded 100,000 restricted stock units ("RSUs") to its then Chief Executive Officer ("CEO").  These restricted stock
units contained both market and performance conditions which were based on the achievement of certain stock price and revenue targets, respectively.  The
restricted stock units would have vested in various percentages over three years (subject to certain accelerated and continued vesting events) once the agreed-
upon stock price and/or revenue based targets were achieved.  Neither the market nor performance conditions were met by January 2, 2016, resulting in the
restricted stock units being forfeited as of that date. In accordance with accounting guidance for stock compensation, the amortization of these restricted stock
units will continue through the requisite service period.

During 2015, the Company began using RSUs as a broad-based form of long-term compensation incentive for its officers, directors and employees. On
April 1, 2015, the Company awarded 203,967 RSUs under the 2014 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the "2014 Plan") to members of senior management
pursuant to elections previously made by the senior managers to convert a portion of their 2014 performance bonuses from cash to equity. These RSUs vested
one year from the date of grant, on April 1, 2016. During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company also awarded a total of 906,806 additional long-
term incentive RSUs to senior managers and employees. These RSUs vest in four equal annual installments beginning one year after the date of grant, subject
to service conditions. On September 10, 2015, the Company awarded 81,250 RSUs to its non-employee directors. These RSUs vested on May 28, 2016. No
RSUs were awarded by the Company during the nine months ending September 30, 2016.

The Company records stock compensation expense for RSUs on a straight line basis over their vesting period based on each RSU's award date market
value. The Company recognizes compensation expense for only the portion of awards that are expected to vest based on forfeiture estimates. In developing a
forfeiture rate estimate, the Company considered its historical experience and actual forfeitures for the year. The Company will continue to evaluate its
forfeiture rate as compared to the actual number of forfeitures in future periods to determine if adjustments to compensation expense may be required.

The Company pays required minimum federal, state or provincial income tax withholding associated with RSUs for its U.S. and Canadian employees.
As the RSUs vest, the Company withholds a number of shares with an aggregate fair market value equal to the minimum tax withholding amount (unless the
employee makes other arrangements for payment of the tax withholding) from the common stock issuable at the vest date. During the nine months ended
September 30, 2016, the Company paid $274 for income tax withholdings associated with RSUs that vested during the period.
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A summary of RSU activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 is as follows:

 Number of RSUs
Weighted Average Remaining

Contractual Life (years)

Outstanding at December 31, 2015 1,286,773  
Awarded —  
Common stock issued upon vesting (454,131)  
Forfeited (239,963)  

Outstanding at September 30, 2016 592,679 1.50

  
Remaining RSUs expected to vest as of September 30, 2016 504,423 1.46
  
Weighted average remaining recognition period 2.50  

Stock Compensation Subsequent Events

On October 26, 2016, the Company's Compensation Committee granted stock options for a total of 4,560,000 shares to employees who are expected to
remain with the Company in support of Yield10 after completion of the Company's strategic restructuring. Of this amount, options for 1,750,000 shares are
contingent upon receiving shareholder approval of certain amendments to the 2014 Plan. Each option has an exercise price per share equal to the fair market
value of the Company's common stock on the date of grant, vests in 4 equal semi-annual installments at a rate of 25% per installment over two years, and has
a term of ten years from the date of grant. The contingent options will be canceled if shareholder approval of the amendments is not received. These new
options were granted in connection with changes to the Company's compensation programs to reduce total cash compensation, including suspension of the
Company's cash bonus program, and to increase equity-based compensation.

On November 4, 2016, Joseph Shaulson, the Company's former chief executive officer, was granted stock options for 750,000 shares upon the execution of a
separation agreement and release agreement relating to the termination of his employment with the Company. These options have an exercise price per share
equal to the fair market value of the Company's common stock on the date of grant, are fully vested on the effective date of Mr. Shaulson's release agreement,
and will be exercisable through December 19, 2023. Options for 350,000 of the 750,000 shares are contingent upon receiving shareholder approval of certain
amendments to the 2014 Plan. The contingent options will be canceled if shareholder approval of the amendments is not received.

Also in connection with the execution of the separation agreement, on November 4, 2016, the vesting of 151,250 previously outstanding RSUs and 191,667
previously outstanding non-qualified stock options held by Mr. Shaulson was accelerated. The Company will record stock compensation expense for the fair
value of these RSUs and non-qualified stock options during its fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2016, as a result of the immediate vesting. The new option
grants and the accelerated vesting of the RSUs and existing stock options were provided in lieu of any cash severance and 2016 cash bonus payable under Mr.
Shaulson’s previous employment agreement.
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9. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Lease Commitments

On January 20, 2016, the Company entered into a lease agreement pursuant to which the Company leases approximately 30,000 square feet of office
and research and development space located at 19 Presidential Way, Woburn, Massachusetts. The lease began on June 1, 2016 and will end on November 30,
2026.

The Company provided the landlord with a security deposit in the form of a letter of credit in the amount of $307. Pursuant to the lease, the Company will
also pay certain taxes and operating costs associated with the premises during the term of the lease. Under the terms of the lease agreement, the landlord paid
$889 for tenant improvements to the facility and an additional $444 for tenant improvements that result in increased rental payments by the Company. The
landlord’s contributions toward the cost of tenant improvements are recorded as short and long-term lease incentive obligation in the Company's condensed
consolidated balance sheet contained herein. The lease incentive obligation will be amortized to rent expense over the lease term. As of September 30, 2016,
the Company has a remaining lease incentive obligation of $1,291. 

On October 10, 2016, the Company entered into a sublease agreement with CJ for the sublease of approximately 10,000 square feet of its leased
facility at 19 Presidential Way, Woburn, Massachusetts. The sublease space was determined to be in excess of the Company's needs as a result of its recent
strategic shift to Yield10 and the related restructuring of its operations. The sublease term is coterminous with the Company's master lease. CJ will pay rent
and operating expenses equal to one-third of the amounts payable to the landlord by the Company, as adjusted from time-to-time in accordance with the terms
of the master lease. In October 2016, CJ provided the Company with a security deposit of $103 in the form of an irrevocable letter of credit.

Annual base rental payments remaining due under the Woburn lease, net of sublease payments expected from CJ, are as follows:

Year ended December 31, Minimum lease payment
2016 (October - December) $ 65
2017 483
2018 523
2019 and thereafter 4,898
Total $ 5,969

    
Contractual Commitments

In connection with the wind down of biopolymer operations, the Company ceased pilot production of biopolymer material and reached agreements with
the owner-operators of its biopolymer pilot production facilities regarding the termination of their services. The Company recorded contract termination costs
related to pilot production of $2,641 during the three months ended September 30, 2016, which is included in discontinued operations. As of September 30,
2016, $1,662 remains outstanding and will be paid in quarterly installments through May 2018. The short and long-term portions of these contract liabilities
are recorded in accrued expenses and other long-term liabilities, respectively, in the Company's condensed consolidated balance sheets contained herein.

Litigation

From time-to-time, the Company may be subject to legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of business. The Company is not currently
aware of any such proceedings or claims that it believes will have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on the business, financial
condition or the results of operations.
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Guarantees

As of September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the Company did not have significant liabilities recorded for guarantees. The Company enters
into indemnification provisions under various agreements with other companies in the ordinary course of business, typically with business partners,
contractors, and customers. Under these provisions, the Company generally indemnifies and holds harmless the indemnified party for losses suffered or
incurred by the indemnified party as a result of its activities. These indemnification provisions generally survive termination of the underlying agreement. The
maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under these indemnification provisions is unlimited. However, to date
Metabolix has not incurred material costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to these indemnification provisions. As a result, the estimated fair value
of the indemnifications under these agreements is believed to be minimal. Accordingly, the Company has no liabilities recorded for these agreements as of
September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

10. GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

The geographic distribution of the Company’s operating revenues from continuing operations and long-lived assets are summarized in the tables below:

  U.S.  Canada  Eliminations  Total

Three Months Ended September 30, 2016:         
Net revenues from external customers  $ 473  $ —  $ —  $ 473
Inter-geographic revenues  —  247  (247)  —
Net revenues  $ 473  $ 247  $ (247)  $ 473

         

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015:         
Net revenues from external customers  $ 327  $ —  $ —  $ 327
Inter-geographic revenues  —  192  (192)  —
Net revenues  $ 327  $ 192  $ (192)  $ 327

         

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016:         
Net revenues from external customers  $ 818  $ —  $ —  $ 818
Inter-geographic revenues  —  674  (674)  —
Net revenues  $ 818  $ 674  $ (674)  $ 818

         

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015:         
Net revenues from external customers  $ 1,248  $ 1  $ —  $ 1,249
Inter-geographic revenues  —  594  (594)  —
Net revenues  $ 1,248  $ 595  $ (594)  $ 1,249

         

Foreign revenue is based on the country in which the Company’s subsidiary that earned the revenue is domiciled. During the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2016, revenue earned from the Company’s Camelina grant with the U.S. Department of Energy totaled $304 and $649, respectively, and
represented 64% and 79% of total revenue.  During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, revenue earned from the Company's REFABB grant
totaled $312 and $990, and represented 95% and 79% of total revenue.

The geographic distribution of the Company’s long-lived assets is summarized as follows:

  U.S.  Canada  Eliminations  Total

September 30, 2016  $ 1,796  $ —  $ —  $ 1,796
December 31, 2015  $ 103  $ 2  $ —  $ 105
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11. INCOME TAXES

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are recognized based on temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and
liabilities using future enacted tax rates.  A valuation allowance is recorded against deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that some or all of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized.

The Company follows the accounting guidance related to income taxes including guidance which addresses accounting for uncertainty in income taxes.
This guidance prescribes a threshold for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. It
also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosures and transitions. The Company had no
amounts recorded for any unrecognized tax benefits as of September 30, 2016 or December 31, 2015.

For both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, the Company recognized an income tax benefit of $1,042 and tax expense in
discontinued operations for both periods of $1,259 related to discontinuation of its biopolymer operations. For the three and nine months ended September 30,
2015, the Company did not recognize any tax expense or benefit due to its loss position. As of September 30, 2016, the Company recorded an accrued income
tax provision of $217 related to this tax benefit which is included in accrued expenses within the Company's condensed consolidated balance sheet included
herein which will be recognized within continuing operations in the fourth quarter of 2016.

Due to the uncertainty surrounding the realization of favorable tax attributes in future tax returns, the Company has recorded a full valuation allowance
against its otherwise recognizable net deferred tax assets.

12. LICENSE AGREEMENTS AND RELATED PARTIES

The Company previously licensed certain technology to Tepha, Inc., a related party, for use in medical applications. During May 2016, the Company
entered into an amendment to its license agreement with Tepha, in which the Company received a lump sum payment of $2,000 in consideration for an early
buyout of all future royalties under the agreement and the licensing of two additional production strains and related intellectual property. The Company
completed delivery of the technology to Tepha during the quarter ended September 30, 2016. The Company recorded $494 and $2,272 of license and royalty
revenue related to Tepha during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, respectively. During September 2016, the Company also received $11
from Tepha in connection with their purchase of certain laboratory equipment previously used in the Company's biopolymer operations. During the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2015, the Company recorded license and royalty revenue from Tepha of $172 and $407, respectively. As of September 30,
2016 and December 31, 2015, the Company had $1 and $146, respectively, of outstanding receivables due from Tepha for royalties.

During June, 2016, the Company entered into a purchase and licensing agreement with a third party in which the Company received a lump sum
payment of $1,000 in consideration for certain biopolymer inventory and a non-exclusive license to certain patents owned or controlled by the Company
related to biopolymers. Included in the Company's reported license fee and royalty revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 is $850 in
licensing revenue related to this agreement.

The patents underlying these license agreements are now owned by CJ. As a consequence of this sale and the Company's discontinuation of its
biopolymer operations, license fee and royalty revenue is included within income from discontinued operations within the Company's condensed consolidated
statements of operations contained in this quarterly report.

13. CAPITAL STOCK

Common Stock Issuances

In connection with the wind down of biopolymer operations, the Company ceased pilot production of biopolymer material at its two third-party
biopolymer pilot production facilities. On September 19, 2016, the Company entered into an early termination agreement with the owner-operator of one of
the biopolymer production facilities. As part of the consideration for the early termination, the Company issued 275,000 unregistered shares of Metabolix
common stock.

On October 7, 2015, the Company entered into a common stock purchase agreement with Aspire Capital. Under terms of the agreement, Aspire
committed to purchase up to an aggregate of $20,000 of the Company's common stock over a 30
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month period that began on November 9, 2015. Common stock may be sold from time-to-time at the Company’s direction under pricing formulas based on
prevailing market prices around the time of each sale. The purchase agreement contains limitations on the number of shares that the Company may sell to
Aspire. Additionally, the Company and Aspire may not effect any sales of shares of the Company's common stock under the purchase agreement during the
continuance of an event of default or on any trading day that the closing sale price of its common stock is less than $0.50 per share. Upon execution of the
purchase agreement, the Company issued 300,000 shares of its common stock to Aspire with a fair value of $450, as a commitment fee. In addition, the
Company incurred $169 of additional costs in connection with the Aspire facility, which along with the fair value of the common stock has been recorded as
deferred equity costs and is included within other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet at September 30, 2016. These costs will be
proratably charged to additional paid-in-capital as shares are sold to Aspire. In the event it is determined no additional shares will be sold under the purchase
agreement, any deferred equity offering costs will be expensed at such time. At September 30, 2016, the full $20,000 under the purchase agreement remains
available for sale to Aspire.

On June 19, 2015, the Company completed a private placement of its securities. Proceeds received from the transaction were $14,703, net of issuance
costs of $297. Investors participating in the transaction purchased a total of 4,370,000 shares of common stock at a price of $3.32 per share and warrants with
a purchase price of $0.125 per warrant to purchase up to an aggregate of 3,933,000 additional shares of common stock. The warrants have a four-year term
and are immediately exercisable at a price of $3.98 per share. The Company reviewed the accounting guidance for warrants and has determined that the
warrants should be recorded as equity within additional paid-in capital.

On May 26, 2015, the Company effected a 1-for-6 reverse split of its common stock. The reverse stock split reduced the number of shares of the
Company's common stock currently outstanding at the time the reverse split was made effective from approximately 136 million shares to approximately 23
million shares. Proportional adjustments were made to the Company's outstanding stock options and restricted stock units and to the number of shares issued
and issuable under the Company's equity compensation plans. The number of authorized shares of the Company's common stock remained at 250 million
shares.

14. RESTRUCTURING

In July 2016, the Company announced a strategic restructuring under which Yield10 Bioscience has become its core business. Yield10 Bioscience is
focused on the unmet need for enhanced global food security and is developing proprietary technologies to enable step-change improvements in yield for
major food and feed crops. In connection with its shift in focus, the Company is rebranding itself as Yield10 Bioscience. See Note 15, Discontinued
Operations.

As part of its strategic restructuring, the Company announced a plan to reduce staffing levels to approximately twenty employees, a target level the
Company is on track to meet in the fourth quarter of 2016.

In connection with the wind down of biopolymer operations, the Company also ceased pilot production of biopolymer materials and reached agreements
with the owner-operators of its biopolymer production facilities regarding the termination of these services. The Company made cash payments of $783,
issued 275,000 shares of company common stock, and transferred biopolymer-related production equipment in the third quarter related to these agreements
and other restructuring activities. Remaining cash restructuring costs are estimated to be approximately $2,400, including amounts expected to be added
during the Company's fourth quarter and the $1,872 accrued as of September 30, 2016, and are expected to be paid out through May 2018.

Biopolymer Production
Agreements

Employee Severance and
Related Costs Total

Original Charges and Amounts Accrued $ 2,641 $ 322 $ 2,963
Paid in Cash (783) (112) (895)
Paid through Stock and Equipment (196) — (196)
Ending Balance Accrued at September 30, 2016 $ 1,662 $ 210 $ 1,872

With the exception of approximately $16 of employee severance and related costs incurred for non-biopolymer employees, total restructuring costs
shown in the table above have been classified within discontinued operations in the Company's condensed consolidated statement of operations for the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2016. Amounts related to the biopolymer production agreements are included within research and development
expenses as shown in Note 15.
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15. DISCONTINUED OPERATION

In July 2016, the Board of Directors of the Company approved a strategic restructuring plan under which Yield10 Bioscience would become its core
business with a focus on developing disruptive technologies for step-change improvements in crop yield to enhance global food security. As part of the
restructuring, Metabolix discontinued its biopolymer operations and announced its intention to eliminate approximately 45 positions in its biopolymer
operations and corporate organization.

As a result of this strategic shift, the Company completed the sale of its biopolymer intellectual property and certain equipment and inventory to an
affiliate of CJ during September 2016. The $10,000 purchase price paid by CJ was primarily for the acquisition of intangible assets, including the Company’s
PHA strains, patent rights, know-how and its rights, title and interest in certain license agreements. None of these intangible assets were previously
capitalized to the Company’s balance sheet, resulting in a gain on the sale of approximately $9,868, net of the book value of the equipment sold. In addition to
the CJ purchase, other parties acquired various capital equipment of the biopolymer operation for a total purchase price of approximately $428, resulting in a
net loss on sale of this equipment of approximately $35.

The Company will not have further significant involvement in the operations of the discontinued biopolymer business.

The following are the major items comprising income or loss from discontinued operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and
September 30, 2015.

  Three Months Ended September 30,   Nine Months Ended September 30,

 2016  2015  2016  2015

        

Total revenue $ 1,818  $ 382  $ 4,940  $ 848
Costs and expenses:        
Cost of product revenue 464  347  702  521
Research and development 3,793  2,424  9,438  7,299
Selling, general and administrative 510  387  1,429  1,502
Net gain on sale of biopolymer assets (9,833)  —  (9,833)  —
Total costs and expenses (5,066)  3,158  1,736  9,322
Other (income) or expense 31  (33)  —  (33)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations $ 6,853  $ (2,743)  $ 3,204  $ (8,441)
Income tax expense (1,259)  —  (1,259)  —

Total income (loss) from discontinued operations $ 5,594  $ (2,743)  $ 1,945  $ (8,441)

At December 31, 2015, current assets and other assets of disposal group classified as held for sale of $328 and $800, respectively, shown on the
Company's condensed consolidated balance sheet, represent biopolymer inventory and biopolymer production and laboratory equipment. All of this inventory
and equipment was located in the U.S. At September 30, 2016, the sale of assets to CJ was completed and are no longer carried within the Company's balance
sheet.

The following are the non-cash operating items and investing items related to discontinued operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2016
and September 30, 2015.
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 Nine Months Ended September 30,

 2016  2015

Non-cash operating items:    
Depreciation $ 327  $ 73
Charge for 401(k) company common stock match $ 125  $ 150
Stock-based compensation $ 214  $ 479
Inventory impairment $ 199  $ 202
Non-cash income tax expense $ 1,259  $ —
Non-cash restructuring expense paid through stock and equipment $ 196  $ —
Gain on sale of discontinued operation and property and equipment $ (9,833)  $ (33)

    

Investing item:    
Purchase of property and equipment $ (193)  $ (477)

    

The following are the proforma results of the ongoing operations of Metabolix as though the discontinuation of the biopolymer operations and sale of
biopolymer assets had occurred at the beginning of the periods shown. The proforma information is not necessarily indicative of the actual results that would
have been achieved had the discontinuation of the biopolymer operations occurred at the beginning of the periods presented, nor is it necessarily indicative of
future results.

  Three Months Ended September 30,   Nine Months Ended September 30,

 2016  2015  2016  2015

        

Total revenue $ 473  $ 327  $ 818  $ 1,249
Net loss from continuing operations before income tax benefit $ (2,612)  $ (3,105)  $ (8,659)  $ (9,323)
Net loss from continuing operations $ (1,570)  $ (3,105)  $ (7,617)  $ (9,323)
        

Basic and diluted loss per share from continuing operations $ (0.06)  $ (0.12)  $ (0.28)  $ (0.38)

           

ITEM 2.  MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

(All dollar amounts are stated in thousands)

Forward Looking Statements

This quarterly report on Form 10-Q contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. These statements relate to our future plans, objectives, expectations and intentions and may
be identified by words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipate,” “intends,” “target,” “projects,” “contemplates,” “believe,”
“estimates,” “predicts,” “potential,” and “continue,” or similar words.

Although we believe that our expectations are based on reasonable assumptions within the limits of our knowledge of our business and operations, the
forward-looking statements contained in this document are neither promises nor guarantees. Our business is subject to significant risk and uncertainties and
there can be no assurance that our actual results will not differ materially from our expectations. These forward looking statements include, but are not limited
to, statements concerning our

20



business plans and strategies; the expected results of our strategic restructuring to focus on Yield10 Bioscience as our core business; expected future financial
results and cash requirements; plans for obtaining additional funding; plans and expectations that depend on our ability to continue as a going concern; and
plans for development and commercialization of our Yield10 technologies. Such forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties
that could cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated including, without limitation, risks related to our limited cash resources, uncertainty
about our ability to secure additional funding, risks and uncertainties associated with our restructuring plans, risks related to the execution of our business
plans and strategies, risks associated with the protection and enforcement of our intellectual property rights, as well as other risks and uncertainties set forth
under the caption "Risk Factors" in Part II, Item 1A, of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and in our other filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.
 

The forward-looking statements and risk factors presented in this document are made only as of the date hereof and we do not intend to update any of
these risk factors or to publicly announce the results of any revisions to any of our forward-looking statements other than as required under the federal
securities laws.

Unless the context otherwise requires, all references in this Form 10-Q to "Metabolix," "we," "our," "us," "our company" or "the company" refer to
Metabolix, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its subsidiaries.

Overview

We are completing a strategic restructuring under which Yield10 Bioscience has become our core business with a focus on developing disruptive
technologies for step-change improvements in crop yield to enhance global food security.

    
In connection with our restructuring, we initiated actions during July 2016 to significantly reduce our workforce and cease pilot biopolymer production

in an effort to significantly reduce our ongoing cash burn rate. On September 16, 2016, we completed the sale of our biopolymer intellectual property and
certain equipment and inventory to an affiliate of CJ CheilJedang Corporation ("CJ") for a total purchase price of $10,000. We expect to reach a target level of
approximately 20 employees during the fourth quarter of 2016 as activities related to the wind down of our biopolymer operations and transfer of biopolymer
assets to CJ are completed.

In connection with the wind down of biopolymer operations, the Company reached agreements with the owner-operators of its biopolymer production
facilities regarding the termination of these services. The Company made cash payments of $783, issued 275,000 shares of Company common stock, and
transferred biopolymer-related production equipment in the third quarter related to these agreements and other restructuring activities. Remaining cash
restructuring costs associated with the restructuring are estimated at $2,400, including anticipated restructuring costs that will be added during the Company's
fourth quarter and including $1,872 accrued at September 30, 2016, and are expected to be paid out through May 2018.

    
We currently estimate that our cash on hand together with expected cash receipts from our outstanding government research grants will be sufficient to

support our operations into the fourth quarter of 2017. This includes both the estimated cash operating cost of the Yield10 Bioscience business as well as
remaining cash restructuring costs expected to be paid during that period. As of September 30, 2016, the Company had unrestricted cash and cash equivalents
of approximately $9.8 million. Our capital resources may not be sufficient to fund our operations for a twelve-month period and, therefore, raise substantial
doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern.

In September 2015, we launched our refocused crop science program under the name “Yield10 Bioscience.” Yield10 is leveraging Metabolix’s
extensive track record of innovation based around optimizing the flow of carbon intermediates in living systems. In plants, Yield10 is working on new
approaches to improve fundamental elements of plant metabolism to deliver step-change increases in crop yield through enhanced photosynthetic efficiency
and directed carbon utilization. We believe that Yield10 technologies are broadly applicable to food and feed crops. In the near term, Yield10 is focusing its
efforts on canola, soybean and corn—working independently and seeking agricultural industry partners to validate and commercialize new traits and identify
gene editing targets in these key crops.

Yield10 is based on two proprietary technology platforms developed by Metabolix and its academic partners. The “Smart Carbon Grid for Crops”
focuses on gene targets that enhance carbon capture from photosynthesis and regulate the flow of carbon to plant biomass, roots and/or seed. Four lead traits
impacting seed yield, C3003-C3006, have been developed using Camelina as a model system for C3 oil seed crops and these traits are now being progressed
into C3 oil seed crops such as canola and soybean. The “T3 Platform” is being used to identify novel global transcription factor (GTF) genes, or master
switches, that can be leveraged with new gene editing approaches to significantly increase plant yield. Using the T3 Platform, the Company has generated
data in switchgrass as a model system for C4 crops such as corn, and plans are being developed to
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introduce these new traits into high performing corn lines.

Since launching Yield10 in September 2015, we have consolidated our crop science intellectual property position, identified novel gene targets for
improving crop yield, formed a scientific advisory board with academic and business leaders in plant science, conducted greenhouse trials and secured an
ARPA-e grant to support multi-trait field trials in Camelina incorporating our Smart Carbon Grid traits.

Government Grants
 

In September 2016, we were awarded a subcontract from North Carolina State University ("NCSU") for $276, with the objective of improving the yield
of Camelina Sativa in connection with the development of Camelina-based jet fuel. The term of the grant began May 1, 2016 and expires on December 31,
2016.

As of September 30, 2016, expected gross proceeds of $1,952 remain to be received under our U.S. government grants, including the new NCSU grant,
all of which are related to our crop science program. This includes amounts for reimbursement to our subcontractors, as well as reimbursement for our
employees’ time, benefits and other expenses related to future performance. 

 
The status of our government grants is as follows: 

  
Funding
Agency

 
Total Government

Funds

 
Total received

through  
Remaining amount

available as of  
Contract/Grant

ExpirationProgram Title    September 30, 2016  September 30, 2016  
Production of High Oil, Transgene Free
Camelina Sativa Plants through
Genome Editing ("Camelina")  

Department of
Energy  $ 1,997  $ 321  $ 1,676  September 2017

Subcontract from NC State University
(NCSU) project funded by DOE ARPA-
E entitled "Jet Fuel from Camelina
Sativa: A Systems Approach"  

Department of
Energy  276  —  276  December 2016

Renewable Enhanced Feedstocks For
Advanced Biofuels And Bioproducts
("REFABB")  

Department of
Energy  6,000  6,000  —  February 2016

Subcontract from University of
Massachusetts (Amherst) project funded
by ARPA-E entitled “Development of a
Dedicated High Value Biofuels Crop”  

Department of
Energy  663  663  —  December 2015

Total  
 

 $ 8,936  $ 6,984  $ 1,952  
 

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments
 

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) for interim financial information. The
preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to revenue
recognition, inventory valuation, stock-based compensation and strategic restructuring charges. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various
other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying
value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The critical accounting policies
and the significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements for the three and nine months ended September
30, 2016, are consistent with those discussed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015, in the section captioned
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments.”
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Results of Operations
 
Comparison of the Three Months Ended September 30, 2016 and 2015
 
Revenue 

  Three Months Ended   September 30,   

 

 2016  2015  Change

Grant revenue  $ 473  $ 327  $ 146

Total revenue  $ 473  $ 327  $ 146
 

Total revenue from continuing operations was $473 and $327 for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and was derived
solely from our research grants.  Grant revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2016 consisted of $473 in revenue earned from the Camelina grants
and grant revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2015 primarily consisted of $312 in revenue earned from our now completed REFABB grant.

 
We anticipate grant revenue will remain at approximately the same levels during the remainder of 2016.
 

Expenses

  Three Months Ended   September 30,   

 

 2016  2015  Change

Research and development expenses  $ 1,547  $ 1,664  $ (117)
Selling, general, and administrative expenses  1,530  1,769  (239)

Total expenses  $ 3,077  $ 3,433  $ (356)
 

Research and Development Expenses
 

Research and development expenses of continuing operations were $1,547 and $1,664 for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015,
respectively. The decrease of $117 is primarily due to a decrease in employee compensation and related benefit expenses. Employee compensation and related
benefit expenses were $603 and $810 for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The decrease of $207 in the 2016 period is
primarily attributable to the elimination of the 2016 bonus accrual as a result of our strategic restructuring and ongoing efforts to conserve cash. Partially
offsetting this decrease was a $66 increase in sponsored research as a result of our ongoing Camelina field trials being conducted under our Camelina
government grant.

 
Our research and development expenses are expected to remain consistent during the remainder of 2016 as we continue to closely manage our cash

usage and complete our strategic restructuring to focus efforts on our Yield10 crop science activities.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
 

Selling, general and administrative expenses of continuing operations were $1,530 and $1,769 for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and
2015, respectively. The decrease of $239 was primarily due to decreased employee compensation and related benefit expenses. Employee compensation and
related benefit expenses were $730 and $965 for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The $235 decrease in employee
compensation and related benefits is due primarily to a reduction in headcount and the elimination of the 2016 employee bonus accrual as a result of our
strategic restructuring and ongoing efforts to conserve cash. These expense reductions were partially offset by an increase of $62 in professional fees from
$324 during the three months ended September 30, 2015, to $386 during the three months ended September 30, 2016, primarily as a result of increased
accounting and audit fees.

 
We expect our selling, general and administrative expenses to decrease during the remainder of 2016 as we continue to closely manage our cash usage

and implement our strategic restructuring to focus efforts on our Yield10 crop science activities.
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Other Income (Expense), Net 

  Three Months Ended September 30,   

 

 2016  2015  Change

Interest income, net  $ 2  $ 1  $ 1
Other income (expense), net  (10)  —  (10)

Total other income (expense), net  $ (8)  $ 1  $ (9)
 

Other income (expense), net, reflects expense of $8 and income of $1 for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. During the
three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, other income, net, consisted primarily of income earned from our short-term investments in money market
funds, net of custodial fees, and realized foreign currency transaction gains or losses.

Income Tax Benefit

For the three months ended September 30, 2016, the Company recognized an income tax benefit within continuing operations of $1,042 and tax expense in
discontinued operations of $1,259 related to taxable income generated during the interim period as a result of selling the assets of its biopolymer operations to
CJ. For the three months ended September 30, 2015, the Company did not recognize any tax expense or benefit due to its loss position.

Discontinued Operations

In July 2016, the Board of Directors of the Company approved a restructuring plan under which Yield10 Bioscience has become its core business with a focus
on developing disruptive technologies for step-change improvements in crop yield to enhance global food security. As a result of this strategic shift, the
Company completed the sale of its biopolymer intellectual property and certain equipment and inventory to an affiliate of CJ CheilJedang Corporation (“CJ”)
during September 2016. The $10,000 purchase price paid by CJ was primarily for the acquisition of intangible assets, including the Company’s PHA strains,
patent rights, know-how and its rights, title and interest in certain license agreements. None of these intangible assets were previously capitalized on the
Company’s balance sheet, resulting in a net gain on the sale of approximately $9,868, net of equipment sold.

During the three months ending September 30, 2016, the Company recognized net income before income taxes from discontinued operations of $6,853
primarily as a result of the net gain on the sale of the biopolymer assets to CJ.

Comparison of the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 and 2015

Revenue

  Nine Months Ended September 30,   

 

 2016  2015  Change

Grant revenue  $ 818  $ 1,249  $ (431)

Total revenue  $ 818  $ 1,249  $ (431)

Total revenue from continuing operations was $818 and $1,249 for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015,
respectively, and derived solely from our research grants. Grant revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, primarily consisted of revenue
earned from the Camelina grants. Grant revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2015, primarily consisted of $990 in revenue earned from the
REFABB grant that ended in February 2016.
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Expenses

  Nine Months Ended, September 30   

 

 2016  2015  Change

Research and development expenses  $ 4,522  $ 5,034  $ (512)
Selling, general, and administrative expenses  4,951  5,582  (631)

Total expenses  $ 9,473  $ 10,616  $ (1,143)

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses of continuing operations were $4,522 and $5,034 for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015,
respectively. The decrease of $512 in the 2016 period is primarily due to a decrease in employee compensation and related benefit expenses and reduced
facility expenses. Employee compensation and related benefit expenses were $2,019 and $2,522 for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015,
respectively. The decrease of $503 in the 2016 period is primarily attributable to the elimination of the 2016 bonus accrual as a result of our strategic
restructuring and ongoing efforts to conserve cash. Facility expenses decreased from $1,825 for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 to $1,533 for the
nine months ended September 30, 2016. The decrease of $292 is primarily the result of relocating the Company's headquarters to its new and less expensive
Woburn, Massachusetts facility. Partially offsetting these reductions was an increase in sponsored research of $188.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses of continuing operations were $4,951 and $5,582 for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015,
respectively. The decrease of $631 was primarily due to a decrease in employee compensation and related benefits expenses, license fees, patent-related
expenses and facility expenses. Employee compensation and related benefit expenses were $2,515 and $2,878 for the nine months ended September 30, 2016
and 2015, respectively. The decrease of $363 was primarily attributable to a decrease in bonus accrual as a result of our strategic restructuring. Patent-related
expenses and facility expenses decreased by $85 and $113, respectively.

Other Income (Expense), Net

  Nine Months Ended September 30,   

 

 2016  2015  Change

Interest income, net  $ 6  $ 3  $ 3
Other income (expense), net  (10)  41  (51)

Total other income (expense), net  $ (4)  $ 44  $ (48)

Other income (expense), net, reflects expense of $4 and income of $44 for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. During
the nine months ended September 30, 2016, other income, net, consisted primarily of realized foreign currency translation gains or losses. During the nine
months ended September 30, 2015, other income, net, consisted primarily of income earned from our short-term investments in money market funds, net of
custodial fees, and realized foreign currency transaction gains or losses.

Income Tax Benefit

For the nine months ended September 30, 2016, the Company recognized an income tax benefit within continuing operations of $1,042 and tax expense
in discontinued operations of $1,259 related to taxable income generated during the interim period as a result selling the assets of its biopolymer operations to
CJ. For the nine months ended September 30, 2015, the Company did not recognize any tax expense or benefit due to its loss position.

Discontinued Operations

In July 2016, the Board of Directors of the Company approved a restructuring plan under which Yield10 Bioscience would become its core business with a
focus on developing disruptive technologies for step-change improvements in crop yield to enhance global food security. As a result of this strategic shift, the
Company completed the sale of its biopolymer intellectual property and certain equipment and inventory to an affiliate of CJ CheilJedang Corporation (“CJ”)
during September 2016. The $10,000 purchase price paid by CJ was primarily for the acquisition of intangible assets, including the
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Company’s PHA strains, patent rights, know-how and its rights, title and interest in certain license agreements. None of these intangible assets were
previously capitalized to the Company’s balance sheet, resulting in a net gain on the sale of approximately$9,868, net of equipment sold.

During the nine months ending September 30, 2016, the Company recognized net income before income taxes from discontinued operations of $3,204,
primarily as a result of the net gain on the sale of the biopolymer assets to CJ noted above.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

Currently, we require cash to fund our working capital needs, to purchase capital assets and to pay our operating lease and trade payable obligations.
 
The primary sources of our liquidity have been:
 

• equity financing;
• a former strategic alliance;
• government grants;
• other funded research and development arrangements;
• licensing revenues;
• product revenues; and
• interest earned on cash and short-term investments.
 

We have incurred significant expenses relating to our research and development efforts. As of September 30, 2016, we had an accumulated deficit of
$331,425. Our total unrestricted cash and cash equivalents as of September 30, 2016, were $9,782 as compared to $12,269 at December 31, 2015. As of
September 30, 2016, we had no outstanding debt.

 
Our cash and cash equivalents at September 30, 2016 were held for working capital purposes. As of September 30, 2016, we had restricted cash of

$432. Restricted cash consists of $307 held in connection with the lease agreement for our Woburn, Massachusetts headquarters, and $125 held in connection
with our corporate credit card program.

Investments are made in accordance with our corporate investment policy, as approved by our Board of Directors. The primary objective of this policy is
to preserve principal and investments are limited to high quality corporate debt, U.S. Treasury bills and notes, money market funds, bank debt obligations,
municipal debt obligations and asset-backed securities. The policy establishes maturity limits, concentration limits, and liquidity requirements. As of
September 30, 2016, we were in compliance with this policy.

 
With the exception of the three month period ended September 30, 2016, when we reported net income of $4,024 as a result of selling certain of our

biopolymer assets, and 2012, when we recognized $38,885 of deferred revenue from a terminated joint venture, the Company has recorded losses since its
inception. As of September 30, 2016, the Company held unrestricted cash and cash equivalents of $9,782. We have $20,000 of availability under our equity
facility with Aspire, however, market conditions may limit the extent to which the Company can draw on this facility. Our present capital resources may not
be sufficient to fund our planned operations for a twelve month period, and therefore, raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern.
Our independent registered public accounting firm included an explanatory paragraph in its report on our financial statements as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2015 with respect to this uncertainty.

In the third quarter of 2016, we undertook a strategic restructuring of our operations to focus on the Yield10 Bioscience business. We announced a plan to
reduce staffing levels to approximately twenty employees, a target level that we are on track to meet in the fourth quarter of 2016. We incurred restructuring
costs for contract termination and employee post-termination benefits of approximately $2,963 which are primarily reflected in discontinued operations
within the Company's statement of operations. We currently anticipate that our annual net cash used in operations, excluding restructuring costs, will be
approximately $5,000 - $6,000 for operating the Yield10 Bioscience business.

In connection with the wind down of biopolymer operations, we reached agreements with the owner-operators of our biopolymer pilot production
facilities regarding the termination of these services. The Company made cash payments of $783, issued 275,000 shares of Company common stock, and
transferred biopolymer-related production equipment totaling $196 in the third quarter related to these agreements and other restructuring activities.
Remaining cash restructuring costs are estimated
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at approximately $2,400, including anticipated restructuring costs that will be added during the Company's fourth quarter and including $1,872 accrued at
September 30, 2016, which are expected to be paid out through May 2018.

We continue to face significant challenges and uncertainties. Our future revenues, expenses and cash usage will depend on the successful completion of
our strategic restructuring and the execution of our strategic plans related to Yield10. Adequate financing to complete the restructuring and implementation of
our new strategy may not be available. Available capital resources may be consumed more rapidly than currently expected due to (a) higher restructuring
costs than anticipated; (b) lower than expected revenues from grants, licenses, and service fees related to our Yield10 technologies; (c) changes we may make
to the business that affect ongoing operating expenses; (d) changes we may make to our business strategy; (e) changes in our research and development
spending plans; and (f) other items affecting our forecasted level of expenditures and use of cash resources.

If we issue equity or debt securities to raise additional funds, (i) we may incur fees associated with such issuance, (ii) our existing stockholders may
experience dilution from the issuance of new equity securities, (iii) we may incur ongoing interest expense and be required to grant a security interest in our
assets in connection with any debt issuance, and (iv) the new equity or debt securities may have rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of our
existing stockholders. In addition, utilization of our net operating loss and research and development credit carryforwards may be subject to significant annual
limitations under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 due to ownership changes resulting from equity financing transactions. If we raise
additional funds through collaboration, licensing or other similar arrangements, it may be necessary to relinquish valuable rights to its potential products or
proprietary technologies, or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us.

    
 Net cash used operating activities was $12,261 for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, compared to net cash used of $16,393 during the nine

months ended September 30, 2015. The cash used during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 primarily reflects the net loss of $5,672, the add-back of
the gain on the sale of the Company's discontinued operation and certain property and equipment of $9,833, and the payment of annual performance bonuses
of $1,665, partially offset by non-cash expenses, including depreciation expense of $458, our 401(k) stock matching contribution expense of $259, stock-
based compensation expense of $1,155, inventory impairment charges of $199 and non-cash income tax expense of $217.

The following are the non-cash operating items related to discontinued operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and September 30,
2015.

 Nine Months Ended September 30,

 2016  2015

Non-cash operating items:    
Depreciation $ 327  $ 73
Charge for 401(k) company common stock match $ 125  $ 150
Stock-based compensation $ 214  $ 479
Inventory impairment $ 199  $ 202
Non-cash income tax expense $ 1,259  $ —
Non-cash restructuring expense paid through stock and equipment $ 196  $ —
Gain on sale of discontinued operation and property and equipment $ (9,833)  $ (33)

Net cash of $9,783 was provided by investing activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2016, compared to net cash used by investing
activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 of $458. Net cash used by investing activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2016
was primarily the result of purchases of property and equipment to outfit the new Woburn, Massachusetts facility of $721, offset by proceeds from the sale of
biopolymer assets of $10,317 and a net decrease in restricted cash of $187. Net cash used by investing activities during the nine months ended September 30,
2015 included purchases of equipment and facility improvements made primarily for our pilot manufacturing recovery facility.

There was no cash used or provided by financing activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2016. Cash of $14,703, net of issuing costs of
$297, was provided by financing activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and was derived from the Company's private placement of
equity securities completed during the second quarter of 2015.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of September 30, 2016, we had no off-balance sheet arrangements as defined in Item 303(a)(4) of the Securities and Exchange Commission’s
Regulation S-K.

Related Party Transactions
 

See Note 12 to our consolidated financial statements for a full description of our related party transactions.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements for a full description of recent accounting pronouncements.

ITEM 3.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.
 

There have been no material changes in information regarding our exposure to market risk, as described in Item 7A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2015.

ITEM 4.  CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 

Our management (with the participation of our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Accounting Officer) evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange
Act”)), as of September 30, 2016. Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the
reports it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported on a timely basis and that such information is accumulated
and communicated to management, including the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Accounting Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure. Based on this evaluation, our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Accounting Officer concluded that these disclosure
controls and procedures are effective.

 
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the
quarter ended September 30, 2016 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II — OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.
 

From time to time, the Company may be subject to legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of business. The Company is not currently aware
of any such proceedings or claims that it believes will have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition or
the results of operations.

ITEM 1A.  RISK FACTORS.
 

(All dollar amounts are stated in thousands)

You should carefully consider the following information about risks, together with the other information contained in this report. If any of the
circumstances or events described below actually arises or occurs, our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition could be harmed. In
any such case, the market price of our common stock could decline, and you may lose all or part of your investment.

Risks Relating to our Financial Position

We will need to secure additional funding and may be unable to raise additional capital on favorable terms, if at all.
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As of September 30, 2016, the Company held unrestricted cash and cash equivalents of $9,782. Although we have $20,000 of availability under our
equity facility with Aspire, market conditions may limit the extent to which the Company can draw on this facility. Our present capital resources may not be
sufficient to fund our planned operations for a twelve month period, and therefore, raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern.
Our independent registered public accounting firm included an explanatory paragraph in its report on our financial statements as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2015 with respect to this uncertainty.

We are completing a strategic restructuring under which Yield10 Bioscience has become our core business with a focus on developing disruptive
technologies for step-change improvements in crop yield to enhance global food security.

We will require additional capital resources to support the implementation of our new Yield10-focused strategy. All forms of financing may be
considered, including public and private equity financing, secured or unsecured debt financing, equity or debt bridge financing, as well as licensing or other
collaborative arrangements. There can be no assurance that these efforts will be successful. If we are not able to secure such additional capital resources or
otherwise fund our operations, we may be forced to explore strategic alternatives and/or wind down our operations and pursue options for liquidating our
remaining assets, including intellectual property and equipment.

We continue to face significant challenges and uncertainties. Our future revenues, expenses and cash usage will depend on the successful completion of
our strategic restructuring and the execution of our strategic plans related to Yield10. Adequate financing to complete the restructuring and implement our
new strategy may not be available. Available capital resources may be consumed more rapidly than currently expected due to (a) higher restructuring costs
than anticipated; (b) lower than expected revenues from grants, licenses, and service fees related to our Yield10 technologies; (c) changes we may make to the
business that affect ongoing operating expenses; (d) changes we may make to our business strategy; (e) changes in our research and development spending
plans; and (f) other items affecting our forecasted level of expenditures and use of cash resources.

If we issue equity or debt securities to raise additional funds, (i) we may incur fees associated with such issuance, (ii) our existing stockholders may
experience dilution from the issuance of new equity securities, (iii) we may incur ongoing interest expense and be required to grant a security interest in our
assets in connection with any debt issuance, and (iv) the new equity or debt securities may have rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of our
existing stockholders. In addition, utilization of our net operating loss and research and development credit carryforwards may be subject to significant annual
limitations under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 due to ownership changes resulting from equity financing transactions. If we raise
additional funds through collaboration, licensing or other similar arrangements, it may be necessary to relinquish valuable rights to its potential products or
proprietary technologies, or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to the Company.

We have a history of net losses and our future profitability is uncertain.

With the exception of the three month period ended September 30, 2016, when the Company reported net income of $4,024 as a result of selling certain
of its biopolymer assets and 2012, when it recognized $38,885 of deferred revenue from a terminated joint venture, the Company has recorded losses since its
inception. At September 30, 2016, our accumulated deficit was approximately $331,425. Since 1992, we have been engaged primarily in research and
development and early-stage commercial activities. Because our crops science technology is at an early stage of development, we cannot be certain that the
Yield10 business will generate sufficient revenue to become profitable. We expect to have significant losses and negative cash flow for at least the next
several years, as we incur additional costs and expenses for the continued development of our technology, including the ongoing expenses of research,
development and commercialization. The amount we spend will impact our ability to become profitable and this will depend, in part, on the number of new
technologies that we attempt to develop. We may not achieve any or all of these goals and, thus, we cannot provide assurances that we will ever be profitable
or achieve significant revenues.
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Our strategic restructuring may not be successful.

On July 20, 2016, our Board of Directors approved a plan to implement a strategic restructuring under which Yield10 Bioscience has become our core
business. As part of the restructuring, we have discontinued our biopolymer operations, eliminated positions in our biopolymer operations and corporate
organization, and sold certain of our biopolymer business assets. After the restructuring and wind-down of the biopolymers operation, our annual cash used in
operations is expected to be approximately $5,000 - $6,000 for operating Yield10 compared to approximately $25,000 prior to the restructuring.

We incurred restructuring costs for contract terminations and employee post-termination benefits of approximately $2,963 and issued 275,000 shares of
common stock in the third quarter of 2016 related to termination of agreements with the owner-operators of our biopolymer pilot production facilities and
other restructuring activities. Remaining cash restructuring costs associated with our strategic restructuring are estimated at approximately $2,400, including
anticipated restructuring costs that will be added during the Company's fourth quarter and including $1,872 accrued at September 30, 2016, and are expected
to be paid through May 2018. However, restructuring costs may be higher than anticipated and the reduction in cash used in operations resulting from the
restructuring may be less than expected. If we are not successful in reducing our cash used in operations, we may require more financing than anticipated or
we may be forced to wind down our remaining operations.

Risks Relating to our Yield10 Crop Science Program

Our crop science product development cycle is lengthy and uncertain and will depend heavily on future collaborative partners.

The technology and processes used in our crop science program and the application of our technology to enhance photosynthetic efficiency of crops are
at an early stage of development. Research and development in the seed, agricultural biotechnology, and larger agriculture industries is expensive and
prolonged and entails considerable uncertainty. Completion of our development work will require a significant investment of both time and money, if it can be
completed at all. We expect that collaborations with established agricultural industry companies will be required to successfully develop and commercialize
our innovations.  The industry is highly concentrated and dominated by a small number of large players, which could impact efforts to form such
collaborations. We may not be successful in establishing or maintaining suitable partnerships, and may not be able to negotiate collaboration agreements
having terms satisfactory to us or at all. In addition, industry collaborators have significant resources and development capabilities and may develop products
and technologies that compete with or negatively impact the development and commercialization of our technologies.

Our crop science program may not be successful in developing commercial products.

We and our potential future collaborators may spend many years and dedicate significant financial and other resources developing traits that will never
be commercialized. Seeds containing the traits that we develop may never become commercialized for any of the following reasons:

• our traits may not be successfully validated in the target crops;
• our traits may not have the desired effect sought by future collaborators for the relevant crops;
• development and validation of traits, particularly during field trials, may be adversely affected by environmental or other circumstances beyond our

control;
• we or our future collaborators may be unable to obtain the requisite regulatory approvals for the seeds containing our traits;
• competitors may launch competing or more effective seed traits or seeds;
• a market may not exist for seeds containing our traits or such seeds may not be commercially successful;
• future collaborators may be unable to fully develop and commercialize products containing our seed traits or may decide, for whatever reason, not to

commercialize such products; and
• we may be unable to patent our traits in the necessary jurisdictions.

Consumer and government resistance to genetically modified organisms may negatively affect the ability to commercialize crops containing our traits.

Food and feed made from genetically modified seeds are not accepted by many consumers and in certain countries production of certain genetically
modified crops is effectively prohibited, including throughout the European Union, due to concerns over such products’ effects on food safety and the
environment. The high public profile of biotechnology in food and
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feed production and lack of consumer acceptance of products to which we have devoted substantial resources could have a negative impact on the commercial
success of products that incorporate our traits and could materially and adversely affect our ability to obtain collaborations and to finance our crop science
program. Substantial liability and/or legal expenses may be incurred if there are claims that our genetically-engineered crops damage the environment or
contaminate other farm crops.

If we lose key personnel or are unable to attract and retain necessary talent, we may be unable to develop or commercialize our products under
development.

        We are highly dependent on our key technical and scientific personnel, who possess unique knowledge and skills related to our research and technology.
If we were to lose the services of these individuals, we may be unable to readily find suitable replacements with comparable knowledge and the experience
necessary to advance our research and development. Because of the unique talents and experience of many of our scientific and technical staff, competition
for our personnel is intense. Our ability to attract and retain qualified employees may be affected by our efforts to manage cash usage, including reductions in
total cash compensation. The loss of key personnel or our inability to hire and retain personnel who have the required expertise and skills could have a
material adverse effect on our research and development efforts and our business.

Risks Relating to Intellectual Property

Patent protection for our products is important and uncertain.

Our commercial success may depend in part on our obtaining and maintaining patent protection for our technologies in the United States and other
jurisdictions, as well as successfully enforcing and defending this intellectual property against third-party challenges. If we are not able to obtain or defend
patent protection for our technologies, then we will not be able to exclude competitors from developing or marketing such technologies, and this could
negatively impact our ability to generate sufficient revenues or profits from product sales and/or licensing to justify the cost of development of our
technologies and to achieve or maintain profitability. Our issued patents have expiration dates ranging from 2016 through 2030.

Our patent position involves complex legal and factual questions. Accordingly, we cannot predict the breadth of claims that may be allowed or enforced
in our patents or in third-party patents. Patents may not be issued for any pending or future pending patent applications owned by or licensed to us, and claims
allowed under any issued patent or future issued patent owned or licensed by us may not be valid or sufficiently broad to protect our technologies. Moreover,
we may be unable to protect certain of our intellectual property in the United States or in foreign countries. Foreign jurisdictions may not afford the same
protections as U.S. law, and we cannot ensure that foreign patent applications will have the same scope as the U.S. patents. There will be many countries in
which we will choose not to file or maintain patents because of the costs involved. Competitors may also design around our patents or develop competing
technologies.

Additionally, any issued patents owned by or licensed to us now or in the future may be challenged, invalidated, or circumvented. We could incur
substantial costs to bring suits or other proceedings in which we may assert or defend our patent rights or challenge the patent rights of third parties. An
unfavorable outcome of any such litigation could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Third parties may claim that we infringe their intellectual property, and we could suffer significant litigation or licensing expense as a result.

Various U.S. and foreign issued patents and pending patent applications owned by third parties exist in areas relevant to our products and processes. We
could incur substantial costs to challenge third party patents. If third parties assert claims against us or our customers alleging infringement of their patents or
other intellectual property rights, we could incur substantial costs and diversion of management resources in defending these claims, and the defense of these
claims could have a material adverse effect on our business. In addition, if we are unsuccessful in defending against these claims, these third parties may be
awarded substantial damages, as well as injunctive or other equitable relief against us, which could effectively block our ability to make, use, sell, distribute,
or market our products and services in the United States or abroad. Alternatively, we may seek licenses to such third party intellectual property. However, we
may be unable to obtain these licenses on acceptable terms, if at all. Our failure to obtain the necessary licenses or other rights could prevent the sale,
manufacture, or distribution of some of our products and, therefore, could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Portions of our crop science technology are owned by or subject to retained rights of third parties.

We have licensed and optioned from academic institutions certain patent rights that may be necessary or important to the development and
commercialization of our crop science technology. These licenses and options may not provide exclusive
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rights to use such intellectual property in all fields of use in which we may wish to develop or commercialize our technology. If we fail to timely exercise our
option rights and/or we are unable to negotiate a license agreements for optioned patent rights on acceptable terms, the academic institutions may offer such
patent rights to third parties. If we fail to comply with our obligations under these license agreements, or if we are subject to a bankruptcy or insolvency
proceeding, the licensor may have the right to terminate the license. In some circumstances, we may not have the right to control the preparation, filing and
prosecution of licensed patent applications or the maintenance of the licensed patents. Therefore, we cannot be certain that these patents and applications will
be prosecuted, maintained and enforced in a manner consistent with the best interests of our business. Furthermore, the research resulting in certain of our
licensed and optioned patent rights was funded by the U.S. government. As a result, the government may have certain rights, or march‑in rights, to such
patent rights and technology.

We rely in part on trade secrets to protect our technology, and our failure to obtain or maintain trade secret protection could limit our ability to compete.

We rely on trade secrets to protect some of our technology and proprietary information, especially where we believe patent protection is not appropriate
or obtainable. However, trade secrets are difficult to protect. Litigating a claim that a third party had illegally obtained and was using our trade secrets would
be expensive and time consuming, and the outcome would be unpredictable. Moreover, if our competitors independently develop similar knowledge, methods
and know-how, it will be difficult for us to enforce our rights and our business could be harmed.

Risks Relating to Owning our Common Stock

Raising additional funds may cause dilution to our existing stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights to our technologies.

If we raise additional funds through equity offerings or offerings of equity-linked securities, including warrants or convertible debt securities, we expect
that our existing stockholders will experience significant dilution, and the terms of such securities may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely
affect your rights as a stockholder. Debt financing, if available, may subject us to restrictive covenants that could limit our flexibility in conducting future
business activities, including covenants limiting or restricting our ability to incur additional debt, dispose of assets or make capital expenditures. The
Company may also incur ongoing interest expense and be required to grant a security interest in Company assets in connection with any debt issuance. If we
raise additional funds through strategic partnerships or licensing agreements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies
or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us.

Trading volume in our stock is low and an active trading market for our common stock may not be available on a consistent basis to provide stockholders
with adequate liquidity. Our stock price may be extremely volatile, and our stockholders could lose a significant part of their investment.

Trading volume in our stock is low and an active trading market for shares of our common stock may not be sustained on a consistent basis. The public
trading price for our common stock will be affected by a number of factors, including:

• reported progress in our efforts to develop crop related technologies, relative to investor expectations;
• changes in earnings estimates, investors’ perceptions, recommendations by securities analysts or our failure to achieve analysts’ earnings

estimates;
• quarterly variations in our or our competitors’ results of operations;
• general market conditions and other factors unrelated to our operating performance or the operating performance of our competitors;
• future issuances and/or sales of our common stock or preferred stock;
• announcements or the absence of announcements by us, or our competitors, regarding acquisitions, new products, significant contracts,

commercial relationships or capital commitments;
• commencement of, or involvement in, litigation;
• any major change in our board of directors or management;
• changes in governmental regulations or in the status of our regulatory approvals;
• announcements related to patents issued to us or our competitors and to litigation involving our intellectual property;
• a lack of, or limited, or negative industry or security analyst coverage;
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• uncertainty regarding the Company's ability to obtain additional cash resources;
• short-selling or similar activities by third parties; and
• other factors described elsewhere in these “Risk Factors.”

As a result of these factors, our stockholders may not be able to resell their shares at, or above, their purchase price. In addition, the stock prices of many
technology companies have experienced wide fluctuations that have often been unrelated to the operating performance of those companies. Any negative
change in the public’s perception of the prospects of industrial or agricultural biotechnology or “clean technology” companies could depress our stock price
regardless of our results of operations. These factors may have a material adverse effect on the market price of our common stock.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and by-laws and Delaware law might discourage, delay or prevent a change of control of our company or
changes in our management and, therefore, depress the trading price of our common stock.

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation and by-laws and Delaware law may discourage, delay or prevent a merger, acquisition or other change in
control that stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which our stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares of our
common stock. These provisions may also prevent or frustrate attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our management.

In addition, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law prohibits a publicly-held Delaware corporation from engaging in a business
combination with an interested stockholder, generally a person which together with its affiliates owns, or within the last three years has owned, 15% or more
of our voting stock, for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which the person became an interested stockholder, unless the business
combination is approved in a prescribed manner.

The existence of the foregoing provisions and anti-takeover measures could limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares
of our common stock. They could also deter potential acquirers of our Company, thereby reducing the likelihood that our stockholders could receive a
premium for their common stock in an acquisition.

Concentration of ownership among our existing officers, directors and principal stockholders may prevent other stockholders from influencing
significant corporate decisions and depress our stock price.

Based on the number of shares outstanding as of September 30, 2016, our officers, directors and stockholders who hold at least 5% of our stock
beneficially own a combined total of approximately 71.8% of our outstanding common stock, including shares of common stock subject to stock options and
warrants that are currently exercisable or are exercisable within 60 days after September 30, 2016. If these officers, directors, and principal stockholders or a
group of our principal stockholders act together, they will be able to exert a significant degree of influence over our management and affairs and control
matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors and approval of mergers, business combination or other significant transactions.
The interests of one or more of these stockholders may not always coincide with our interests or the interests of other stockholders. For instance, officers,
directors, and principal stockholders, acting together, could cause us to enter into transactions or agreements that we would not otherwise consider. Similarly,
this concentration of ownership may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control of our company otherwise favored by our other
stockholders. As of September 30, 2016, Jack W. Schuler and William P. Scully beneficially owned approximately 48.1% and approximately 10.4% of our
common stock, respectively.

ITEM 2.  UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS.
 
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
 

On July 8, 2016, the Company issued 92,084 shares of common stock to participants in its Metabolix, Inc. 401(k) Plan as a matching contribution. The
issuance of these securities is exempt from registration pursuant to Section 3(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933 as exempted securities.

On September 19, 2016, the Company entered into an early termination agreement with the owner-operator of one of the biopolymer production
facilities. As part of the consideration for the execution of this agreement, the Company issued 275,000 unregistered shares of Metabolix common stock. The
issuance of these securities is exempt from registration pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
 

During the three months ended September 30, 2016, there were no repurchases made by us or on our behalf, or by any “affiliated purchasers,” of shares
of our common stock.

ITEM 3.  DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES.
 

None.

ITEM 4.  MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.
 

Not applicable.

ITEM 5.  OTHER INFORMATION.
 

None.

ITEM 6.  EXHIBITS.

10.1
 

Asset Purchase Agreement dated September 16, 2016 between Metabolix, Inc. and CJ Research Center LLC (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Company's
Report on Form 8-K filed September 21, 2016, and incorporated herein by reference).

   

31.1  Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 of the Principal Executive Officer (filed herewith).
   

31.2  Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 of the Principal Financial Officer (filed herewith).
   

32.1  Section 1350 Certification (furnished herewith).
   

101.1

 

The following financial information from the Metabolix Inc. Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2016 formatted
in XBRL: (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets, September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015; (ii) Consolidated Statements of Operations, Three and
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 and 2015; (iii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss, Three and Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2016 and 2015; (iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 and 2015; and
(v) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.

 

 METABOLIX, INC.
  

   

November 18, 2016 By: /s/ OLIVER PEOPLES
  Oliver Peoples
  President and Chief Executive Officer
  (Principal Executive Officer)
   

November 18, 2016 By: /s/ CHARLES B. HAASER
  Charles B. Haaser
  Chief Accounting Officer
  (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION
 

I, Oliver Peoples, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Metabolix, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Dated: November 18, 2016 /s/ OLIVER PEOPLES
 Name: Oliver Peoples

 
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)
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EXHIBIT 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION
 

I, Charles B. Haaser, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Metabolix, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Dated: November 18, 2016 /s/ CHARLES B. HAASER
 Name: Charles B. Haaser

 
Title: Chief Accounting Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
In connection with the quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Metabolix, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarter ended September 30, 2016 as filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), we, Oliver Peoples, President, Chief Executive Officer and Principal Executive
Officer of the Company and Charles B. Haaser, Chief Accounting Officer and Principal Financial and Accounting Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to our knowledge that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. The information in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

This certification is being provided pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350 and is not to be deemed a part of the Report, nor is it to be deemed to be “filed” for any
purpose whatsoever.

 

Dated: November 18, 2016 /s/ OLIVER PEOPLES
 President and Chief Executive Officer
 (Principal Executive Officer)
Dated: November 18, 2016 /s/ CHARLES B. HAASER
 Chief Accounting Officer
 (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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